1950

Hyrum Williams v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties will be designated as in the trial court.

All italics are ours.

All record citations of testimony will be followed by -1 or -2 to indicate whether said testimony was received at the first or second trial.

Hyrum Williams, an employee of The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company, was injured within defendant's yards at Ogden, Weber County, Utah, at approximately 7:10 A.M. on the 9th day of December, 1946 while in the course of his employment as a switch tender for said company.

This action was commenced in the Second Judicial District, in and for Weber County, State of Utah, on the 26th day of February, 1948. The case was first tried before the Honorable John A. Hendricks, commencing on the 26th day of May, 1948, the jury returning a verdict in favor of plaintiff in the sum of \$20,000.00 total verdict, with diminution by reason of contributory negligence in the sum of \$8,000.00, and a net verdict in the sum of \$12,000.00 (R. 057).

Defendant filed a motion for new trial and said Judge, after the motion had been argued by respective counsel, granted plaintiff the choice of accepting a \$9,000.00 reduction in the net verdict, leaving a net recovery of \$3,000.00, or a new trial. Plaintiff, faced with this choice, accepted a new trial (R. 240-2).

The case was tried a second time before the Honorable F. W. Keller, commencing on the 16th day of November, 1948, the jury returning a verdict of No Cause for Action in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff. Thereafter, plaintiff moved for a new trial and plaintiff's motion was, on the 29th day of September, 1949, denied by said Judge (R. 245-2).

Plaintiff hereby appeals from the order of Judge Hendricks granting defendant's motion for new trial and also from certain errors committed by the Honorable F. W. Keller, Judge during the progress of the second trial of the case.

The facts pertaining to liability will be related upon the basis of the testimony at the second trial inasmuch as certain errors of law, which will be set forth and discussed in this brief, took place at the second trial.

The facts pertaining to damages will be related upon the basis of the testimony taken at the first trial inasmuch as those facts will be referred to in relation to charged error of Judge Hendricks in granting defendant's motion for new trial following the first trial of this cause.

B. THE FACTS

Hyrum Williams, age 68, and a lifetime employee of the defendant company, was injured while in the course of his employment at approximately 7:10 A.M. on the 9th day of December, 1946 when he slipped on icy switch ties while manipulating railroad switch No. 2 near the Weber River bridge, Ogden, Utah (R. 15-2, 20-2). At the time of his injuries plaintiff was working as a switch tender tending three switches, one east, and two west of the Weber River bridge (R. 2, R-2). He had worked pursuant to said assignment since 1942.

The tracks, switches and general area where plaintiff worked are clearly shown in defendant's Exhibit "1". Generally speaking the westbound and eastbound main line tracks extend in an easterly-westerly direction, with the westbound main line track to the south. These tracks extend over the Weber River by a bridge and a short distance east of the bridge the balloon track circles away from the westbound main line track in a general southeasterly direction. West of the Weber River bridge a crossover, extending in southeasterly-northwesterly direction, connects the westbound and eastbound main line tracks. Switch No. 1 connects the crossover with the eastbound main line track and switch No. 2 connects the crossover with the westbound main line track and is the switch where plaintiff was injured. A switch shanty is located just south of the crossover. The balloon switch is approximately three-quarters of a block from the shanty (R. 19-2).

During the months and years prior to December 9, 1946, an average of between eight and ten trains would pass the switches over which plaintiff had jurisdiction during an eight hour shift. Every time these trains moved along the eastbound or westbound main line tracks the duty of the switch tender required that he manipulate the switches under his control so as to accommodate the movement of these trains (R. 8-2). Whenever a train used the crossover, switches Nos. 1 and 2 would have to be changed and then returned to their normal positions (R. 10-2).

At all times it is the duty of the section crews, working under the section foreman to keep the switches and the area around the switches clean and in good working condition (R. 11, 12, 89-92, 145-147-2). If it snows and storms, section crews are called out as soon as possible to clean the switches and the area around the switches where workmen are required to stand or move in the manipulation of the switches (R. 11, 12, 90, 91, 145-2).

David Danielson, section foreman in general charge of maintenance work from Roy, Utah to Weber River bridge, within which area is located switches Nos. 1 and 2, testified that following a storm on the 7th day of December, 1946 he dispatched a member of his crew to clean five switches, two of which were switches Nos. 1 and 2, and that his workman spent six hours on that day cleaning the switches (R. 213-2). On the 8th day of December, 1946 there was some precipitation of wet snow which ended at approximately 12:45 P.M. *This was the last precipitation that occurred before plaintiff was injured.* (Exs. "L", "M" and "13"). *Thereafter, Mr. Danielson dispatched a man to clean the five switches, among which were switches Nos. 1 and 2, and he worked for a period of six hours during the afternoon of December 8th, 1946 on said assignment* (R. 213, 215, 216-2). During the evening of the 8th and the early morning hours of the 9th the temperature hovered at or near freezing (Exs. "L", "M" and "13").

On the 9th day of December, 1946, plaintiff reported for duty at approximately 6:50 to 6:55 A. M. (R. 15-2).

It was a dark, cloudy morning, below freezing in temperature (R. 15, 16-2). His shift was from 7:00 A.M. to 3:00 P.M. Upon reporting for duty plaintiff received notice that passenger train No. 30 was on the balloon track east of the Weber River bridge ready to proceed in a westerly direction along the westbound main line track across the crossover and onto the eastbound main line track, and also that extra freight train No. 5300 was approaching along the westbound main line track in an easterly direction. His duty therefore required him to stop the freight train, manipulate the switches necessary for the movement of the passenger train from the balloon track to the westbound main line track, over the crossover, to the eastbound main line track and to then change the switches in order that the freight train could proceed along its course on the westbound main line track. In addition, another train at Patterson Avenue was waiting until the manipulations, heretofore mentioned, had been completed so that it could proceed along its course (R. 20-2). Plaintiff, therefore, with his lantern in hand, walked three-quarters of a block from the shanty to the balloon switch, changed that switch, returned to No. 2 switch, changed it, then to the No. 1 switch, changed it, and the passenger train proceeded along its course. Thereafter, plaintiff relined No. 1 switch to its normal position, proceeded to No. 2 switch, and while manipulating it, was injured (R. 15-17-2).

He testified regarding the happening of the accident as follows (R. 20-2):

“Q. As you approached switch No. 2 I want you to tell the jury what you did.

A. I walked from switch No. 1 to switch No. 2 to line it up for the westbound main line. By doing so that cleared the block to let that eastbound train out of the east yard. But I never completed throwing the switch.

Q. Did you get the switch handle unlocked?

A. I got the switch unlocked and the handle out of the lever and was in a position to throw, I just started to throw the switch when my feet slipped out from under me and I went between the switch rod and the tie.”

* * *

“A. Just as soon as I lifted the handle out there, the switch handle, why I grabbed the stand and threwed the switch around where my feet was on the switch ties and this leg went, the left leg went between the switch tie and the switch rod throwing me off balance and I fell forward, or toward the right and the east. Fell towards the bridge.

Q. Will you step down, Mr. Williams, and in about the position I am in now or whatever position is best for you and use this pointer and demonstrate to the jury how this accident happened, the actual movements you went through and what happened?

A. If that is the switch stand, take that for the switch stand, I come here and unlock the switch and let the switch lock down on its chain.

and pull the handle out. After you pull the handle out it is generally so tight in the stock rail that it lets the handle come around but then you get hold of the handle this way, standing in that position, and pull it just around and put it down in the ratchet.

Q. And about how far did you pull the handle when you slipped on this occasion?

A. Oh, I don't know how far just exactly what you'd say it was. The two ratchets, it is just about a 40 degree, took it out of one ratchet and put it in the next one so the switch comes here and it has got to come around to here."

Plaintiff is a man 5 feet 5 inches in height, weighing approximately 150 to 155 pounds, and wearing a size 6½ shoe. There was sufficient space for his foot to slip between the switch tie and the bridle rod (R. 43, 44-2).

Switchmen, in manipulating switches, adopt the means of manipulation most convenient for them. There are no rules or regulations as to how a man should stand in manipulating the switches (R. 46, 52, 53, 178, 179, 201, 202, 205-2). Plaintiff had seen other men stand on the switch ties in manipulating the switch on frequent occasions (R. 46-2), as had Beckett, a switchman with 28 years experience, who testified on behalf of plaintiff. Beckett himself had handled switches in a similar manner (R. 136-138-2).

On the morning he was injured plaintiff was wearing a pair of shoes and new rubbers and was heavily clothed because of the weather (R. 24-2). He had not

noticed ice on the ties and around the switch before he was injured for the reason that he had only been on shift approximately ten minutes and had been very busy manipulating switches in order to facilitate the movement of the two trains waiting for him to accomplish his work (R. 45-2). He had stood on the opposite side of switch No. 2 in throwing it earlier for the crossover. After plaintiff had slipped and fallen he observed a layer of ice on the switch ties and around the switch (R. 50-2).

Beckett, learning that plaintiff had been injured, examined switch No. 2 shortly after 8:00 o'clock on the same morning and testified that the switch ties were covered with ice and a little snow, and that the area around the switch was covered with snow (R. 141-143-2). Photographs produced by the defendant and identified as having been taken at 9:00 A.M. on the day plaintiff was injured clearly and irrefutably indicate that ice and snow were on the ties where plaintiff was injured. Mr. Beckett identified Exhibits "I", "J" and "K" as showing the area as it existed that morning.

That the defendant had had adequate time within which to render plaintiff's place of work safe, was clear. No precipitation had occurred for over 18 hours before plaintiff was injured. During that time no salt nor sand had been thrown on the ties or in the area of the switch; no effort had been made to remove the ice or snow by means of a shovel which was located at the switch shanty; no call had been issued for the section crew to perform

this work, and the two switch tenders who preceded plaintiff on the job had made no effort to clean the switch ties or the area around the switches (R. 90, 91-2, Exhibits "9", "10", R. 107, 146, 147-2). The switch shanties at other areas of the yard contained salt and sand for use in providing adequate footing following storms (R. 107-2).

Beckett testified upon the basis of 28 years of experience that when he observed a condition of ice and snow around a switch rendering footing insecure, he deemed it his duty to immediately notify the section foreman or chief in charge of the department to come and clean the switch and area, and that it was a common occurrence for section men to be called out during the night to perform such services (R. 146, 147-2). Section crews were on 24 hour call at all times (R. 215, 216-2).

From the foregoing facts it is obvious that plaintiff on duty for ten minutes, confronted with an emergency on a dark, cold morning, had no time nor means within which to examine the switches or determine whether footing was safe and secure. On the other hand the defendant had more than sufficient time and means to have rendered footing secure. During that time one man had spent 6 hours on five switches. From the photographs it is obvious that the switch points and the moving parts of the switch had been cleaned since the storm. It is also obvious that the area where switchmen were required to stand and move in manip-

ulating the switch had been overlooked (See Photographs).

After he was injured plaintiff called for help and R. O. McBride, head brakeman of the freight train, approached the switch where he was lying, picked him up and carried him to the shanty (R. 197-2). McBride later relined the switch himself (R. 198-2).

Plaintiff remained at the shanty and endured extensive pain for 30 to 40 minutes before the ambulance arrived and removed him to the hospital (R. 48-1). After his arrival at the hospital he was taken to the operating room where he remained approximately 45 minutes to an hour while the doctor was applying a cast. During that time he endured extensive pain (R. 49-1).

Dr. L. S. Sycamore testified that plaintiff had sustained a comminuted oblique fracture of the left tibia approximately three or four inches below the knee. That the fragments were in reasonably good position and alignment, with slight posterior displacement of the distal fragments at the time he applied the cast. There were two fractures approximately one inch apart through the bone, slanting slightly (R. 24-26-1). Plaintiff remained in bed at the hospital for ten days, and on the tenth day was allowed out of bed for short periods of time (R. 27-1). On December 23, 1946 he was allowed to leave the hospital (R. 27-1). On January 7, 1947 X-rays were taken showing the bone to be in good position and the fracture line to be still quite distinct with

no bony union (R. 28-1). On January 31, 1947 X-rays were again taken revealing some callous formation but also revealing that bony union was not complete (R. 29-1). On February 20, 1947 X-rays revealed callous formation and early incomplete bony union (R. 29-1). Approximately three months following his injuries the first cast was removed. Plaintiff was seen on March 25 by the doctor. At that time the fracture seemed to be healing and he was able to walk on crutches and to bear weight for a few moments of time (R. 30-1). In May of 1947 plaintiff again contacted Dr. Sycamore complaining of pain around the bone. X-rays revealed a fracture line extending through the callous formation as though a small amount of motion in the area had been present (R. 31-1). On May 26, 1947 plaintiff was hospitalized for a period of 24 hours during which time another cast covering his leg and foot was applied (R. 32-1). On June 30, 1947 X-rays revealed that the fracture line was becoming partially obliterated, and during the latter part of July or first part of August, 1947 the second cast was removed (R. 32-1).

Dr. Sycamore accounted for the re-fracture as being caused either by another injury or some slight torque in the leg at the time the first cast had been applied which didn't allow complete healing. He was unable to testify as to which of these reasons was more predominant (R. 36-1). Plaintiff himself testified that he had suffered no injuries or fall whatsoever following his injury on December 9, 1946 (R. 51-1).

During the long period of time that his leg had been in the casts plaintiff's muscles had atrophied extensively and there was tenderness and pain and complete lack of strength in his left leg as late as September of 1947 (R. 32, 51-52-1). He followed the doctor's instructions regarding massage and exercising implicitly (R. 53-1). However, on September 3, 1947 he was sent to Salt Lake to the Chief Surgeon because of continued complaints of stiffness and soreness around the knee and ankle (R. 33-1).

Plaintiff testified that during the periods of time that his leg was in a cast and thereafter he endured extreme discomfort, anguish, nervousness and sleeplessness (R. 51-1). At the time of the first trial, more than fifteen months after his injury, he was unable to walk more than three or four blocks without extreme fatigue in his left leg and testified that under no circumstance could he perform the duties of a switch tender (R. 55-1). Because of retarded recovery and inability to perform the duties of his employment, Mr. Williams had been forced to retire from railroading (R. 54, 55-1). The superintendent had informed him that he had no alternative but to retire (R. 54-1).

At the time of his injuries plaintiff was earning between \$250.00 and \$260.00 per month (R. 56-1).

Defendant offered no evidence on damages, and the testimony of Dr. Sycamore, plaintiff, and his daughter, remains as the sole and only testimony concerning that subject.

From the foregoing facts it is clear that plaintiff's cause of action rests upon a firm evidentiary basis and that he suffered and sustained very serious disabling injuries.

Plaintiff proposes to show that he was seriously prejudiced by errors which occurred at the first and second trials of his cause.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The trial court erred at the second trial in refusing to give plaintiff's Instruction No. 4.
2. The trial court erred at the second trial in refusing to give plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 5.
3. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 7 wherein it defined "proximate cause."
4. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 10.
5. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 11.
6. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 12.
7. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 19.
8. The trial court erred at the second trial in giving Instruction No. 23.

9. The trial court erred in granting defendant's motion for a new trial following the first trial.

10. The trial court erred in refusing to grant plaintiff's motion for new trial following the second trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL FOLLOWING THE FIRST TRIAL (Statement of Points 9).

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR AT THE SECOND TRIAL IN REFUSING AND NEGLECTING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY AS TO PLAINTIFF'S THEORY OF LIABILITY (Statement of Points 1 and 4).

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR AT THE SECOND TRIAL IN INSTRUCTION NO. 10 WHEN IT INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT “* * * *the mere happening of the accident to plaintiff is no proof of negligence on the part of either the plaintiff or defendant or evidence of same.*” (Statement of Points 4).

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT, AT THE SECOND TRIAL, BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 12, HAS REVIVED THE DOCTRINE OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AS A COMPLETE BAR TO RECOVERY BY PLAINTIFF (Statement of Points 6).

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT, AT THE SECOND TRIAL, BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 19, PLACED AN UNWARRANTED BURDEN OF PROOF UPON THE SHOULDERS OF PLAINTIFF AND IN EFFECT REVIVED THE DOCTRINES OF CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AND ASSUMPTION OF RISK AS COMPLETE BARS TO RECOVERY BY PLAINTIFF (Statement of Points 7).

POINT VI.

THE JURY'S VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO IMPORTANT UNCONTROVERTED EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MO-

TION FOR NEW TRIAL FOLLOWING THE FIRST TRIAL (Statement of Points 9).

In granting defendant's motion for new trial following the first trial the court made the following statement (R. 240-2):

“THE COURT: I will tell you that you needn't argue any further. I am of the opinion this was excessive, and I am going to make this ruling: I had some misgivings about the motion for directed verdict and wondered if I shouldn't have granted it. I am now convinced that I should have granted that motion. I think that if there was negligence, \$5,000 would have been sufficient total damages. The jury found that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence to the extent of 40%. I think this contributory negligence was much more than that—it was over 50%—but I will take it on the basis of 40% as the jury found, and if the plaintiff will accept \$3,000 I will deny the motion for new trial; if not, the motion will be granted.

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