1950

# Hyrum Williams v. The Ogden Union Railway and Depot Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

In appellant's brief, although ten separate statements of error are set forth, appellant combines some of such statements of error and argues on six points. In such argument appellant has overlapped and has argued upon the same charge or error under more than one of his designated points. Respondent will address its argument to the same six points as specified by appellant. In appellant's state-



ment of errors he lists ten separate statements wherein he charges the trial court with error. However, with respect to such statements of error he does not argue anything with respect to paragraphs numbered 3, 5 and 8. We therefore assume that by failing to argue upon such claimed errors appellant has waived them.

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL FOLLOWING THE FIRST TRIAL. (Appellant's Statement of Points 9)

It is rather interesting to note that in this case counsel who appear for the plaintiff, Hyrum Williams, find themselves on the opposite side of the question to that which they recently argued before this court in the case of *King v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 212 P. (2d) 692, decided by this court within the past year. In that case the jury in the trial court had returned a verdict in favor of the defendant "no cause of action" and the trial court, at plaintiff's request, granted a motion for a new trial. The jury on the second trial of the case returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff for \$75,000.00, which, however, was reduced by the court to \$50,000.00. Counsel who now represent respondent in this case represented the appellant in that case and argued that the trial court had abused its discretion in granting the new trial. Such position was, of course, strenuously opposed by counsel who are counsel for plaintiff herein and in their

brief and in arguing upon the case the same counsel argued very strenuously and with good effect that the trial court had a wide range of discretion in acting upon a motion for new trial. We wish now to call those same matters to the attention of the same counsel and of this court and strenuously insist that the trial court in this case was acting justifiably within a discretion committed to him when he granted a new trial after the original jury's verdict.

We admit the law as quoted by counsel from Utah Code Annotated on page 18 of appellant's brief and respondent will likewise quote and adopt the holding of this court in the case of *Jensen v. D. & R. G. R. Co.*, 44 Utah 100, 138 P. 1185. We will not requote as much from that case as counsel for appellant has, but do wish to call the following to the court's attention as stated by this court therein:

“\* \* \* A court, vacating a verdict and granting a new trial by merely setting up his opinion or judgment against that of a jury, but usurps judicial power and prostitutes the constitutional trial by jury. *Still the jury cannot be permitted to go unbridled and unchecked. Hence the Code that a new trial on motion of the aggrieved party may be granted by the court below on the ground of 'excessive damages appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice.'* Whenever that is made to appear, the court, when its action is properly invoked, should require a remission or set the verdict aside and grant a new trial. But, before the court is justified to do that, it should clearly be made to appear that the jury totally mistook or disregarded the rules of law by which the damages were to be regulated, or wholly misconceived or disregarded all the evidence, and by



so doing committed gross and palpable error by rendering a verdict so enormous or outrageous or unjust as to be attributable to neither the charge nor the evidence, but only to passion or prejudice. *Whether a new trial should or should not be granted on this ground, of necessity, must largely rest within the sound discretion of the trial court.*" (Italics ours.)

In determining whether or not the trial court exercised a sound judicial discretion or abused his discretion we must look to the facts given in evidence in the case and must bear in mind that the trial court had the opportunity to observe the witnesses as they testified, and particularly had the opportunity to observe the plaintiff, Mr. Williams; his manner of testifying; his manner of moving in and out and around the courtroom; and the inconvenience, if any, which he still suffered in view of the fact that he testified that even at the time of the trial he could not do the work required of him in tending these switches to let 6 or 7 trains pass by them during an 8-hour shift (R. 55-1). In considering this evidence we must remind counsel that the verdict of the jury was not \$12,000.00 but that the original jury's verdict was for \$20,000.00, the total amount prayed for by plaintiff. We must keep in mind that the injury suffered by Williams while it was a broken leg—yes, one bone of the lower leg broken in two places, yet there was no disproportioning of the bone—bone shift. The bone appeared to be perfectly straight (R. 25-1), and after the cast was put on the doctor testified that the x-ray "shows the fragment of the tip in excellent position and alignment" (R. 28-1, 34-1). It is true that the original cast placed on the leg was re-

moved about March 25, 1947 and had to be replaced on May 26, 1947. However, on February 20th there was a good bone union and the cast was left on until March 25th, and after the cast was removed on March 25th the plaintiff was walking with a cane and the doctor at that time said that he should be able to return to work in 7 to 10 days (R. 30-1). In spite of that fact something happened and on May 26th when an x-ray was taken a fracture line appeared in the leg and another cast was put on. True, Williams testified that he had not had any subsequent injury, and while defendant had no testimony to show that he had suffered any subsequent injury, we do not think that Williams' testimony as thus given must be believed at all events, particularly in view of the fact that after his release after the cast was removed on March 25th, even though the doctor did see him from time to time thereafter, "it was not until May when he came back and complained of the excess pain" (R. 39-1). Williams insisted, even up to the time of the trial, that he could not do the work of handling those switches even though such a job was considered as a "pension job" (R. 74-2), and yet the doctor testified: "On October 3, 1947 my records show he was released for work. We talked it over with Hyrum and agreed that the case was finished and closed and it was O.K. to return to work" (R. 34-1). The doctor stated that Williams' recovery was a good recovery and entirely normal and on his release it was the opinion of the doctor that Williams could have done any work that he had done before (R. 35-1). This evidence was all before the trial court and during the giving of it the court was able to observe not only the doctor and other witnesses who

testified, but also was able to observe Williams and see how he was able to get about, to come and go, and to evaluate the testimony from the standpoint of personalities as well as from the cold facts of the record.

Counsel for appellant insist that plaintiff's lost wages alone up to the time of the trial amounted to \$3,900.00. In that respect we must advise counsel that the record is not clear as to what his lost wages would amount to over any period of time. Williams testified that his average wage was \$250.00 to \$260.00 a month, *but that was not his take-home pay—that was before deductions* (R. 56-1). There is nothing in the record anywhere to show what his deductions were or what the net amount of his take-home pay was. Also, Williams took his retirement in October of 1947 and there is nothing in the record to show what his retirement pay was, whether he received as a result of his long years of service 50% of his normal pay, or more, or less. Therefore there is nothing in the record to show what Williams lost by way of wages and the most that can be done is to speculate with respect thereto and upon such speculation we can conclude that up to the time when he took his retirement he had been off work for approximately ten months, during which time he would have received something less than \$2,500.00 (minimizing deductions that would have been taken from his pay-check). Thus, instead of having lost wages in the amount of \$3,900.00, Williams' lost wages would be somewhere closer to the figure of \$2,500.00. On that basis, with the court stating as he did that \$5,000.00 should have been sufficient total damages even assuming

negligence on the part of the defendant, it would leave to Williams \$2,500.00 for lost wages and \$2,500.00 for his pain and suffering, the 40% cut from the \$5,000.00 being based on contributory negligence attributable to Williams as found by the jury.

Again we must remind counsel that the original jury's verdict was \$20,000.00, and with lost wages of somewhere in the neighborhood of \$2,500.00, that would have left \$17,500.00 for pain and suffering with a very serious question having been raised as to whether or not the second cast necessitated on Williams' leg was a result of an additional injury suffered after the doctor had originally released him on March 25th, with no complaint from him until May 23rd.

It is interesting to note that counsel state on page 24 of appellant's brief, "Had the court reduced the verdict by a lesser sum perhaps a different situation would have been presented." By such a statement counsel, in effect, admit that the original verdict of \$20,000.00 was high and although the court may have been justified in reducing it counsel, in effect, argue that he should not have reduced it as much as he did. We will ask counsel if they admit that the \$20,000.00 verdict was excessive, and will ask again what their suggestion might have been had the court presented a different situation by reducing the verdict by a lesser sum. The amount of \$20,000.00 was the amount that plaintiff and plaintiff's counsel asked in their pleadings and after the first trial they did not change the request but left it at the \$20,000.00, and now counsel admit that

a different question would have been presented had the court reduced the verdict by a lesser sum.

Throughout all of their argument on Point I counsel for appellant take the attitude that a new trial deprived the plaintiff of the right to recover what he thought he was entitled to. The plaintiff was not forced to take the \$3,000.00 to which the court reduced the judgment after deducting for contributory negligence. He was given the alternative of a new trial and counsel insist that he was denied justice by being given the right to a new trial.

It may be possible that in exercising his discretion in attempting to cut the amount of the original jury's verdict the Judge did assume a figure that was somewhat too low, but that would not say the original figure as submitted by the jury was not too high. Nevertheless, the mere granting of a new trial as an alternative is a mode of saving plaintiff so that he can start over again if the court, in his opinion, places the amount too low. If, in every case where the court concludes that the damages were excessive, the trial court could reduce the amount and compel the plaintiff to take such an amount, then a plaintiff or appellant in such a position as appellant occupies here might at times find himself in a position where a court in evaluating the evidence might have placed an amount too low. Even under such circumstances I do not believe that such a plaintiff or appellant could urge that the court's action had been arbitrary or capricious. The honest judgment of one man or the honest judgment of one Judge is not always the same as the honest judgment of another, and that is one of the reasons



why a litigant is given the option in such cases of accepting the reduced amount or taking a new trial. Upon the new trial the plaintiff had as much chance as the defendant did and the granting of a new trial did not deny substantial justice to the plaintiff.

As is stated in the *Jensen* case, cited *supra*, whether a new trial should or should not be granted, of necessity, must largely rest within the sound discretion of the trial court and in any case, any ruling made by the court with opposing litigants must be against one or the other of such litigants and it cannot be said that in every instance where a Judge rules against one litigant that he does so because of bias or prejudice on his own behalf or as a result of any abuse of discretion. The power of trial courts to be able to control the verdicts of juries to some extent should be maintained in our system of jurisprudence. As was stated by the Appellate Court of the State of California in *DuVall v. Boos Bros. Cafeteria Co.*, 187 P. 767:

“The trial court should be vigilant to set aside verdicts where there is reason to believe passion, prejudice or sympathy has influenced the jury.”

In the case of *Bonner v. Los Angeles Examiner*, (Cal.) 62 P. (2d) 427, the California Appellate Court said:

“The granting of a new trial is a matter resting so largely in the discretion of the trial court that its action will not be disturbed upon appeal except upon a manifest and unmistakable abuse. On appeal, every presumption is in favor of the order, and the plaintiff must show affirmatively that the order was erroneous. *Rosenberg v. George A. Moore & Co.*,

194 Cal. 392, 396, 229 P. 34. It has been said and quoted over and over again that 'it is only in rare instances and upon very strong grounds that the supreme court will set aside an order granting a new trial.' 2 Cal. Jur. 905, and cases cited. This rule arises largely from the fact that the order granting a new trial does not finally dispose of the case, but leaves it for retrial upon the merits.

\* \* \* \* \*

"On appeal from such an order, however, an appellate court will not disturb the order if there is a reasonable or fairly debatable justification for it. It has been said and often quoted 'that the trial court should be vigilant to set aside verdicts where there is reason to believe that passion, prejudice or sympathy has influenced the jury to give more than the facts reasonably warrant. No definite rule can be announced as to when a verdict is or is not so excessive within these rules, but it is settled that an order granting a new trial for excessive damages will not be disturbed if there is a reasonable or fairly debatable justification therefor.'"

This court has had occasion to pass upon the question of the granting or refusing of new trials in several recent cases. In the case of *Moser v. Zion's Co-op. Mercantile Institution*, . . . Utah . . . , 197 P. (2d) 136, this court said:

"It is a matter now too well settled to admit of any serious dispute that the question of granting or denying a motion for a new trial is a matter largely within the discretion of the trial court. \* \* \* This court cannot substitute its discretion for that of the trial court. \* \* \* We do not ordinarily interfere with rulings of the trial court in either granting or denying a motion for a new trial, and unless abuse of or failure to exercise discretion on

the part of the trial judge is quite clearly shown, the ruling of the trial judge will be sustained.”

In the case of *King v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 212 P. (2d) 692, . . . Utah . . . , which we have already referred to, this court had the question squarely presented to it because the sole error assigned in that case was that the court had abused its discretion in granting a new trial after the jury had returned a verdict of no cause of action. In that case this court referred not only to prior Utah cases but to numerous cases from other jurisdictions. It referred to and quoted from the California case of *Rose v. Carter*, 84 P. (2d) 174, to the effect that the order of a trial court in either granting or denying a new trial will not be disturbed on appeal unless it appears that there was a manifest abuse of discretion.

Also to the Oklahoma case of *Belford v. Allen*, 86 P. (2d) 676, wherein the court held:

“Where the evidence is conflicting the trial judge has the duty to weigh the evidence and to approve or disapprove the verdict, and if the verdict is such that in the opinion of the trial court it should not be permitted to stand, and it is such that he cannot conscientiously approve it and believes it should be for the opposite party, it is his duty to set it aside for a new trial.”

In the *King* case, cited *supra*, it was contended by the defendant, “That if a trial judge is allowed to set aside a verdict returned by a jury which is supported by substantial competent evidence, there results an infringement upon its right to trial by jury.” That is very similar to the position



taken by counsel for appellant in this case, as appellant argues that substantial rights were denied plaintiff because the court reduced the amount of the judgment, or, in the alternative, required the plaintiff to accept a new trial. As this court said in the *King* case, *supra*:

“There is no merit in this contention.

\* \* \* \* \*

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